IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
NO. 22-0513

JIM SUTTON AND ANGELA SUTTON,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

vs.

COUNCIL BLUFFS WATER WORKS,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY DISTRICT COURT
THE HONORABLE GREG W. STEENSLAND

Case No. LACV122333

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael T. Gibbons, AT0002906
Raymond E. Walden, pro hac vice
WOODKE & GIBBONS, P.C., L.L.O.
619 N. 90th Street
Omaha, Nebraska 68114
Telephone: (402) 391-6000
Facsimile: (402) 391-6200
Email Address: mgibbons@woglaw.com
rwalden@woglaw.com
ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT/DEFENDANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the District Court base its reasoning on an erroneous interpretation of the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act, and therefore err in denying the pre-answer motion by Council Bluffs Water Works to strike the strict liability claim?

Iowa Code Chap. 670

Iowa Code §§ 670.1, 670.1(4), 670.4(1)(h), 670.4(2), 670.4(3)

Chevron U.S.A. Inc. v. Echazabal, 536 U.S. 73 (2002)

Hansen v. City of Audubon, 378 N.W.2d 903 (Iowa 1985)

Hartman v. Merged Area VI Community College, 270 N.W.2d 822 (Iowa 1978)

Homan v. Branstad, 887 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 2016)

Iowa Power and Light Company v. The Board of Water Works Trustees of the City of Des Moines, 281 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa Ct. App. 1979)

Jahnke v. Incorporated City of Des Moines, 191 N.W.2d 780 (Iowa 1971)

Kellogg v. City of Albia, 908 N.W.2d 822 (Iowa 2018)

Lubin v. Iowa City, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964)

Mall Real Estate, LLC v. City of Hamburg, 818 N.W.2d 190 (Iowa 2012)

Marcus v. Young, 538 N.W.2d 285 (Iowa 1995)

Mayo v. City of Sarasota, 503 So. 2d 347 (Fla. Ct. App. 1987)

NLRB v. SW General, Inc., 137 S. Ct. 929 (2017)

Peak v. Adams, 799 N.W.2d 535 (Iowa 2011)

People v. Craig, 131 Mich. App. 42, 346 N.W.2d 66 (1983)

Rolfe State Bank v. Gunderson, 794 N.W.2d 561 (Iowa 2011)

Rucker v. Humboldt Cmty. Sch. Dist., 737 N.W.2d 292 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Nick R., 2009-NMSC-050, 147 N.M. 182, 218 P.3d 868

State v. Ross, 941 N.W.2d 341 (Iowa 2020)

Taxpayers for Michigan Constitutional Government v. Dept. of Technology, Management and Budget, 608 Mich. 48, 872 N.W.2d 738 (2021)

Teamsters Local union No. 421 v. City of Dubuque, 606 N.W.2d 709 (2005)

Thomas v. Gavin, 838 N.W.2d 518 (Iowa 2013)

Venckus v. City of Iowa City, 930 N.W.2d 792 (Iowa 2019)

Wright v. State Bd. Of Engineering Examiners, 250 N.W.2d 412 (1977)

Yates v. U.S., 574 U.S. 528 (2015)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Appellant/Defendant believes the Supreme Court should retain the case. This case presents a question of first impression having significant public importance involving the effects of intervening enactment of the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act (“IMTCA” or “Act”) and subsequent amendments on pre-Act caselaw involving the scope of a municipality’s liability for escape of water from its water system. The issues are purely questions of law based on statutory language and the timeline of statutory enactments in the context of the Supreme Court’s decisions applying the IMTCA. A definitive ruling by the Supreme Court on whether the IMTCA allows the Plaintiffs’ strict liability claim will not only focus development of the present case through discovery and trial, but also will set an important precedent in other cases that may arise involving Iowa municipalities.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

Plaintiff Angela Sutton owns a residential property she shares with her husband Plaintiff Jim Sutton in Council Bluffs, Iowa, and sued Defendant Council Bluffs Water Works (“CBWW”), an Iowa municipality as defined in Iowa Code § 670.1, for alleged damage to their property from a series of underground water main breaks near their residence. Appendix pp. 7-8, ¶¶ 1, 2, 4-6, 8, 11. Count I asserts a claim for strict liability based on the allegations of the water main breaks and the resulting property damage. Appendix p. 9, ¶¶ 14-16. Count II asserts an alternative claim for negligence in failing to properly maintain and/or repair the water mains. Appendix p. 10, ¶¶ 18-19.

The Suttons allege having filed a Notice of Claim/Loss with CBWW. Appendix p. 8, ¶ 12.

B. Relevant Events of the Prior Proceedings

Defendant CBWW filed a Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss asking the district court to strike Count I of the Petition for strict liability and dismissing the Petition for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Appendix p. 12.

Plaintiffs filed a Resistance to the Pre-Answer Motion and argued that CBWW could be sued under a strict liability theory because of an Iowa Supreme Court case from 1964, *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964), and a Court of Appeals case from 1979, *Iowa Power and Light Company v. The Board of Water Works Trustees of the City of Des Moines*, 281 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa Ct. App. 1979). Appendix pp. 14-17

Defendant filed a Brief Replying to Plaintiff's Resistance and Supporting Defendant's Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss, in which it pointed out that the 1964 case preceded enactment of the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act in 1967 with provisions inconsistent with strict liability, and the 1979 case preceded an amendment of the IMTCA in 1983 that adopted an immunity provision relevant to the scope of the Act with respect to strict liability. Appendix pp. 19-24. The Reply also explained the basis for the Motion's request for dismissal for failure to state a claim, pointing out the lack of allegations of negligence on CBWW's part. Appendix pp. 24-25.

After further briefing by both sides, Appendix pp. 27-37, 41-47, the district court conducted a hearing on Defendant's Motion (not recorded) and heard arguments. Appendix p. 49. During the hearing, CBWW withdrew the part of its pre-answer motion involving the Plaintiffs' negligence claim. Appendix p. 51. That left as the sole issue the motion to strike the strict

liability claim. On that claim, Defendant asserted that the prior case law was overruled and preempted by the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act (IMTCA) enacted in 1967 and its subsequent amendments.

C. Disposition of the Case in the District Court

In its Order on March 4, 2022, denying Defendant’s Motion, the District Court began by agreeing with the logic of Defendant’s statutory argument that, based on the Act’s language, the IMTCA (passed in 1967) would statutorily overrule any preexisting case law, and that because of explicit exceptions for certain claims setting boundaries on immunity, “it would not logically follow to allow recovery under strict liability as well.” Appendix p. 51. Although not cited in the Order, the pre-existing case law was *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964), which had recognized a strict liability claim under pre-IMTCA common law.

However, the district court then reasoned that “strict liability is not specifically excluded under the IMTCA nor has it been specifically excluded by case law,” and cited *Jahnke v. Incorporated City of Des Moines*, 191 N.W.2d 780 (Iowa 1971), and *Iowa Power and Light Company v. The Board of Water Works Trustees of the City of Des Moines*, 281 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa Ct. App. 1979). The district court concluded that strict liability could be imposed if the facts show the Defendant engaged in an abnormally

dangerous activity. Appendix p. 51-52. Essentially, the district court said the statute itself would not seem to allow a strict liability claim, but the Iowa appellate courts kept recognizing it after the Act, so the district court's hands were tied. The district court did not take into account the fact that an immunity provision it cited as part of the reason why the Defendant's statutory argument makes sense was enacted in 1983 and took effect in 1984—after the 1971 and 1979 cases the judge perceived as tying his hands. Defendant applied for this interlocutory appeal on March 21, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The alleged facts related to the appeal are all set out in the
Petition:

1. Plaintiffs Jim and Angela Sutton allege that Angela owns a residential property at 302 Park Avenue, Council Bluffs, Iowa, on the corner of Park Avenue and High School Avenue, where the couple reside. Appendix pp. 7-8, ¶¶ 1, 4, 5, 7.
2. Defendant Council Bluffs Water Works is an Iowa municipality as defined in Iowa Code § 670.1. Appendix p. 7, ¶ 2.
3. From about November 5 to December 30, 2020, a series of

underground water main breaks occurred near the intersection, causing settlement issues and damages to the residence. Appendix p. 8, ¶¶ 6, 8.

4. The Suttons contacted CBWW about November 9, 2020, when they noticed water bubbling up, which developed into standing water. Appendix p. 8, ¶ 9.
5. CBWW sent crews to inspect and repair the water main breaks on five dates from November 9 to December 30, 2020. Appendix p. 8, ¶ 10.
6. The water main breaks allegedly caused significant settlement damage, basement flooding, and damage to the foundation, interior walls, and doors. Appendix p. 8, ¶ 11.
7. Angela Sutton filed a Notice of Claim/Loss with CBWW on March 9, 2021. Appendix p. 8, ¶ 12.
8. CBWW was in exclusive control and was responsible for maintaining and repairing the underground water mains near the intersection where the Sutton home was located. Appendix p. 9, ¶ 14.

ARGUMENT

PRESERVATION OF ERROR

Plaintiff/Appellant preserved its claim of error by the District Court as to the motion to strike the strict liability claim by presenting the motion with written and oral arguments to the Court for decision at the hearing on the motion and, after the District Court's Order on March 4, 2022, by timely filing its Application for Interlocutory Appeal on March 21, 2022.

Appendix, p. 54-65.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The purpose of a motion to dismiss is to test the legal sufficiency of the petition. *Turner v. Iowa State Bank & Tr. Co. of Fairfield*, 743 N.W.2d 1, 2-3 (Iowa 2007). The Supreme Court reviews rulings on motions to dismiss for the correction of legal error. *Godfrey v. State*, 898 N.W.2d 844, 847 (Iowa 2017). Under the well-established standard for a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which any relief may be granted under rule Iowa R. Civ. Pro. 1.421(1)(f), a motion to dismiss admits the well-pleaded facts in the petition, but not the conclusions. *Benskin, Inc. v. West Bank*, 952 N.W.2d 292, 298 (Iowa 2020); *Hawkeye Foodservice Distribution, Inc. v. Iowa Educators Corp.*, 812 N.W.2d 600, 608-09 (Iowa

2012); *Kingsway Cathedral v. Iowa Dep't of Transp.*, 711 N.W.2d 6, 8 (Iowa 2006); *Rieff v. Evans*, 630 N.W.2d 278, 284 (Iowa 2001).

When considering the effect of a statute, the Court begins by considering the wording of the relevant statutes as applied to the present case. *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 523 (Iowa 2013). “Our goal, when interpreting a statute, is to give effect to the intent of the legislature.” *Jacobson Transp. Co. v. Harris*, 778 N.W.2d 192, 197 (Iowa 2010). “To determine the intent of the legislature, we look first to the words of the statute itself as well as the context of the language at issue.” *Id.*

ARGUMENT

I.

THE IMTCA DOES NOT GIVE A REMEDY FOR STRICT LIABILITY.

This interlocutory appeal asks, as a matter of first impression, whether a private property owner may recover damages from a municipal operator of a water supply system on the basis of strict liability for water escaping from a broken water main after the 1967 enactment of the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act and subsequent amendments, Iowa Code Chap. 670. The Act became law in 1967. *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 521 (Iowa 2013) (citing 1967 Iowa Acts ch. 405). Originally set out in Iowa Code chapter

613A, the Act was moved to Iowa Code chapter 670 by the Code editor in 1993. *Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 807 n.3 (Iowa 2019).

In its Pre-Answer Motion to Dismiss, Council Bluffs Water Works asserted that prior case law was abrogated and preempted by the Act and its amendments. In resisting the Motion, the Plaintiffs Jim and Angela Sutton argued that their strict liability claim continues to be controlled by the Supreme Court's pre-Act decision in *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964) (recognizing municipal strict liability for damage from water main breaks). The district court sided with the Plaintiffs, but on grounds that do not hold up under scrutiny, including the statutory language that the court acknowledged as being inconsistent with strict liability.

In explaining the reasoning for denying CBWW's motion, the district court began by agreeing with the logic of Defendant's statutory argument:

Defendant argues that the IMTCA does not recognize strict liability given that the IMTCA would statutorily overrule any preexisting case law (the IMTCA was first passed in 1967) and the statute itself explicitly excepts claims for "failure to upgrade, improve, or alter any aspect of an existing public improvement," but allows for claims based on a municipality's "failure to repair, maintain, or operate." Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(h). Given the boundaries of immunity in this section, it would not logically follow to allow recovery under strict liability as well.

Appendix p. 51. However, the district court then reasoned that "strict liability is not specifically excluded under the IMTCA nor has it been

specifically excluded by case law.” Appendix p. 51. The judge then cited *Jahnke v. Incorporated City of Des Moines*, 191 N.W.2d 780 (Iowa 1971), and *Iowa Power and Light Company v. The Board of Water Works Trustees of the City of Des Moines*, 281 N.W.2d 827 (Iowa Ct. App. 1979). From *Jahnke*, the judge cited a statement that “the MTCA prescribed municipal liability for all municipal torts except those specifically excluded by this section.” Appendix p. 51. He described *Iowa Power* as finding “that the water works engaged in an abnormally dangerous activity that would most likely result in the invasion of the property of another and that ‘the nature of the activity engaged in by the enterprise is the crucial element in determining whether the doctrine of strict liability should be applied.’” Appendix p. 51-52 (quoting 281 N.W.2d at 831).

The district court treated these cases as establishing that strict liability remains available as a theory against a municipal water system operator if it “engaged in an abnormally dangerous activity.” Appendix p. 52.

However, the cases cited do no such thing, and the case creating the “abnormally dangerous activity” basis for strict liability under the common law, *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964), should be found to have no application following passage of the IMTCA and amendments.

In *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964), the Court held that liability without fault was proper because the city there, as part of a proprietary activity, put the water mains in the ground and just left them there without doing anything to prevent their eventual and inevitable failure, so the city was better able to bear the consequence of that choice. At the time, sovereign immunity from tort liability and any exceptions to it for certain types of tort liability were common law concepts. *Hansen v. City of Audubon*, 378 N.W.2d 903, 905 (Iowa 1985). The IMTCA abolished sovereign immunity. *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 521 (Iowa 2013). Since passage of the IMTCA, “Iowa Code chapter 670 is the exclusive remedy for torts against municipalities and their employees.” *Rucker v. Humboldt Cmty. Sch. Dist.*, 737 N.W.2d 292, 293 (Iowa 2007). *Accord Venckus v. City of Iowa City*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 808 (Iowa 2019) (noting that § 670.4(2) provides the statutory remedies shall be exclusive). As the Court said in *Venckus*, the IMTCA “does not expand any existing cause of action or create any new cause of action against a municipality.” Iowa Code § 670.4(3). Instead, the Act allows people to assert claims against municipalities, their officers, and their employees that otherwise would have been barred by the doctrine of sovereign immunity.” 930 N.W.2d at 809.

Significantly, in a much more recent case, *Kellogg v. City of Albia*, 908 N.W.2d 822 (Iowa 2018), the Supreme Court made no mention of *Lubin* when it applied the intervening governmental immunity statutes to a property owner’s claim about damage from water discharged from a city storm sewer. The Court explained how the statutory backdrop for such a claim against a city had changed:

In 1967, the legislature abrogated common law governmental tort immunity when it passed the Iowa Municipal Tort Claims Act. 1967 Iowa Acts ch. 405, § 2 (originally codified at Iowa Code § 613A.2 (1971), now § 670.2). Under the Act, “every municipality is subject to liability for its torts and those of its officers, employees, and agents.” *Id.* The Act defined torts to mean all civil wrongs, including actions based on negligence and nuisance. *Id.* at § 1(3). However, the Act retained sovereign immunity for several enumerated tort claims, and additional enumerated claims were subsequently added. *See* Iowa Code § 670.4(1)(a)–(o) (2015).

In 1983, the legislature immunized municipalities from claims “based upon or arising out of a claim of negligent design or specification, negligent adoption of design or specification, or negligent construction or reconstruction of a ... public facility,” so long as the facility “was constructed or reconstructed in accordance with a generally recognized engineering or safety standard, criteria, or design theory in existence at the time of the construction or reconstruction.” 1983 Iowa Acts ch. 198, § 25 (codified at Iowa Code § 613A.4(8) (1985), now § 670.4(1)(h)). Further, the legislature excepted municipalities from tort claims for “failure to upgrade, improve, or alter any aspect of an existing public improvement or other public facility to new, changed, or altered design standards.” *Id.* Thus, cities are immune under the statute from claims for the negligent design and construction of facilities built pursuant to the accepted standards in existence at the time

and for claims based on the failure to upgrade facilities to new design standards.

The purpose of section 670.4(1)(h) immunity—often referred to as the state-of-the-art defense—is twofold. First, it “alleviate[s] municipal responsibility for design or specification defects, as judged by present state of the art standards, when the original designs or specifications were proper at the time the public facility was constructed.” *Hansen v. City of Audubon*, 378 N.W.2d 903, 906 (Iowa 1985). Second, the statute instructs courts to measure a municipality’s duty to avoid nonconstitutional torts “by the ‘generally recognized engineering or safety standard, criteria, or design theory’ in existence at the time of the construction or reconstruction.” *Connolly v. Dallas County*, 465 N.W.2d 875, 877 (Iowa 1991).

Id. at 825-26.

The District Court did not mention *Kellogg* in its Order, and also seemed to misunderstand the significance of the timing of the amendment creating § 670.4(1)(h) that was discussed in *Kellogg* and in the district court’s own Order.

Both *Jahnke* in 1971 and *Iowa Power* in 1979 preceded the 1983 amendment that created the immunities the district court cited and quoted when it said, “Given the boundaries of immunity in this section, it would not logically follow to allow recovery under strict liability as well.” Essentially, the district court said the statute itself would not seem to allow a strict liability claim, but the Iowa appellate courts kept recognizing strict liability after the Act, so the district court’s hands were tied. The trouble with using

the 1971 and 1979 cases to push aside the logic the district court correctly saw in the statutory immunity provision is that the immunity provision was not enacted until 1983. The immunity provision the District Court cites, § 670.4(1)(h), has an effective date embedded in its text: “This paragraph takes effect July 1, 1984, and applies to all cases tried or retried on or after July 1, 1984.

A.

**THE DEFINITION OF “TORTS” IS LIMITED TO
FAULT-RELATED CAUSES OF ACTION.**

The logic of the statutory scheme that precludes strict liability starts with the definitions. A city and a city’s board handling its water system are within the definition of “municipality” and “governing body” covered by the IMTCA. Iowa Code § 670.1. An important definition in the same provision is that “‘Tort’ means every civil wrong which results in . . . injury to property . . . and includes but is not restricted to actions based upon negligence; error or omission; nuisance; breach of duty, whether statutory or other duty or denial or impairment of any right under any constitutional provision, statute or rule of law.” § 670.1(4). The meaning of “tort” is central to the Act because its core provision says, ““Except as otherwise provided in this chapter, every municipality is subject to liability for its torts and those of its officers and employees, acting within the scope of their

employment or duties....” Iowa Code § 670.2. Rather than just rely on existing legal principles to define “tort” for purposes of the Act, the Legislature set out the list in § 670.1(4).

Significantly missing from the “tort” definition’s list of included causes of action is strict liability or, as it was also termed in *Lubin*, “liability without fault.” *Lubin* was on the books for just three years when the Legislature enacted the IMTCA, but it did not include within the definition of “tort” either “strict liability” or “liability without fault” from *Lubin*.

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