---

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA  
No. 22-0513

---

JIM SUTTON AND ANGELA SUTTON,

Plaintiffs-Appellees,

v.

COUNCIL BLUFFS WATER WORKS,

Defendant-Appellant.

---

APPEAL FROM THE POTTAWATTAMIE COUNTY DISTRICT COURT  
THE HONORABLE GREG W. STEENSLAND  
CASE NO. LACV122333

---

**FINAL BRIEF FOR APPELLEES**

---

Nicholas F. Sullivan, IA #AT0011994  
Tiffany S. Boucher, IA #AT0013913  
Dvorak Law Group, LLC  
9500 West Dodge Road, Suite 100  
Omaha, NE 68114  
Tel: 402-934-4770  
Fax: 402-933-9630  
[nsullivan@ddlawgroup.com](mailto:nsullivan@ddlawgroup.com)  
[tboucher@ddlawgroup.com](mailto:tboucher@ddlawgroup.com)  
Attorneys for Plaintiffs-Appellees

**

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

## **ARGUMENT**

**I. The district court did not err in denying CBWW’s motion to dismiss after concluding that strict liability is still enforceable under the IMTCA for damages caused by broken underground water mains.**

**A. Preservation of Error.**

The district court entered an Order denying CBWW’s motion to dismiss on March 4, 2022. (Appendix, p. 49). On March 21, 2022, CBWW timely filed its Application for Interlocutory Appeal, which was granted on April 25, 2022. *See* Iowa R. App. P. 6.104(1)(b)(2); (Appendix, p. 54).



## **B. Scope and Standard of Review.**

“A motion to dismiss ruling is reviewed for correction of errors at law.” *Riley Drive Entm’t I, Inc. v. Reynolds*, 970 N.W.2d 289, 295 (Iowa 2022) (citation omitted). “For purposes of reviewing a ruling on a motion to dismiss, we accept as true the petition’s well-pleaded factual allegations, but not its legal conclusions.” *Riley*, 970 N.W.2d at 295 (citation and quotation marks omitted); *see also Struck v. Mercy Health Services-Iowa Corp.*, 973 N.W.2d 533, 538 (Iowa 2022) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted) (“We construe the petition in its most favorable light, resolving all doubts and ambiguities in the plaintiff’s favor.”).

“Motions to dismiss are disfavored.” *Benskin, Inc. v. West Bank*, 952 N.W.2d 292, 296 (Iowa 2020). “Iowa is a notice pleading state.” *Benskin*, 952 N.W.2d at 296. “[A] court will rarely dismiss a petition for failure to state a claim upon which any relief may be granted.” *Turner v. Iowa State Bank & Tr. Co.*, 743 N.W.2d 1, 3 (Iowa 2007) (citations omitted). Instead, a dismissal can only be granted “when the petition, viewed in its most favorable light, fails to present a right of recovery.” *Riley*, at 295-96 (citation omitted); *see also Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 538 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted) (“We will affirm a dismissal only if the petition shows no right of recovery under any state of facts.”).

“We review rulings on statutory interpretation for correction of errors at law.” *Struck*, 973 N.W.2d at 538 (citing *Goche v. WMG, L.C.*, 970 N.W.2d 860, 863 (Iowa 2022)).

**C. Even after the enactment of the IMTCA, the doctrine of strict liability is still enforceable against Iowa municipalities for damage caused by broken underground water mains.**

“In 1967, the legislature abrogated common law governmental tort immunity when it passed the [IMTCA].” *Kellogg v. City of Albia*, 908 N.W.2d 822, 825-26 (Iowa 2018) (citation omitted). The IMTCA provides that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by this chapter, every municipality is subject to liability for its torts.” Iowa Code § 670.2(1).

“The IMTCA ‘does not expand any existing cause of action or create any new cause of action against a municipality.’” *Venckus v. City of Iowa*, 930 N.W.2d 792, 809 (Iowa 2019) (quoting Iowa Code § 670.4(3)). Instead, the IMTCA allows people to assert claims against municipalities that “otherwise would have been barred by the doctrine of sovereign immunity.” *Venckus*, 930 N.W.2d at 809 (citing *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 521 (Iowa 2013)). “The substance of any legal claim asserted under the IMTCA must arise from some source—**common law**, statute, or constitution— independent of the IMTCA.” *Id.* at 809-10 (emphasis added).

Prior to the enactment of the IMTCA, the common law of Iowa was that municipalities could be held strictly liable in tort for damages caused by broken underground water mains. This principal was first recognized in *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765 (Iowa 1964).

In *Lubin*, the plaintiffs brought an action against the city for damages after a water main broke and flooded the basement of the plaintiffs' store and damaged merchandise. *Lubin v. Iowa City*, 131 N.W.2d 765, 766 (Iowa 1964). The plaintiffs in *Lubin* alleged three separate causes of action against the city. *Lubin*, 131 N.W.2d at 766. The first was based on the doctrine of strict liability (or liability without fault). *Id.* The second was based on the doctrine of *res ipsa loquitur*. *Id.* The third was based on negligence. *Id.*

In holding that the city could be held strictly liable for damage caused by its broken water mains, the Supreme Court explained:

Whether we say the invasion of plaintiffs' property by water escaping from defendant's broken watermain constitutes a trespass or nuisance or results from an extra-hazardous activity as defined in the Restatement of Torts, Section 520, or is an application of the doctrine of *Fletcher v. Rylands*, or that the practice of leaving pipes in place until they break is negligence per se, we believe the facts in this case disclose a situation in which liability should be imposed upon by city without a showing of negligent conduct.

It is neither just nor reasonable that the city engaged in a proprietary activity can deliberately and intentionally plan to leave a water main underground beyond inspection and maintenance until a break occurs and escape liability. A city or

corporation so operating knows that eventually a break will occur, water will escape and in all probability flow onto the premises of another with resulting damage. We do not ordinarily think of water mains as being extra-hazardous but when such a practice is followed they become “inherently dangerous and likely to damage his neighbor's property” within the meaning of *Pumphrey v. J.A. Jones Construction Co.*, supra. The risks from such a method of operation should be borne by the water supplier who is in a position to spread the cost among the consumers who are in fact the true beneficiaries of this practice and of the resulting savings in inspection and maintenance costs. When the expected and inevitable occurs, they should bear the loss and not the unfortunate individual whose property is damaged without fault of his own.

*Id.* at 770.

Similarly, after the enactment of the IMTCA, strict liability was still recognized as a viable theory of recovery against Iowa municipalities for damage caused by their broken water mains in actions brought under the IMTCA. In *Iowa Power*, the plaintiff brought an action against the defendant for damages caused by a broken water main under the IMTCA, which at the time was codified at Iowa Code chapter 613A. See *Iowa Power & Light Co. v. Board of Water Works Trustees of City of Des Moines*, 281 N.W.2d 827, 831 (Iowa Ct. App. 1979). “The IMTCA was moved from Iowa Code chapter 613A to Iowa Code chapter 670 by the Code editor in 1993.” *Venckus*, 930 N.W.2d at 807 n.2.

In *Iowa Power*, the defendant argued on appeal that the trial court erred in finding it liable under the doctrine of strict liability (or liability without

fault) as announced in *Lubin*. *Iowa Power*, 281 N.W.2d at 831. Similar to CBWW, the defendant in *Iowa Power* argued that *Lubin* was inapplicable and that the appropriate theory to be applied was negligence. *Id.* In disagreeing with the defendant, the Court of Appeals explained:

In this case, testimony shows that Water Works protects against broken water mains primarily by using good construction techniques and materials; mains normally are not inspected. Water Works, the party best able to prevent against damaged water mains, accepted the advantages of lower maintenance costs. . . . Consequently, as in *Lubin*, Water Works should bear the risk of loss for damage caused by those mains which leak or break, although through no fault of its own. Water Works is an enterprise engaged in an activity which will most likely result in the invasion of the property of another and, as between even those two parties which are in relatively equal economic positions, Water Works should be liable for losses caused by this activity.

*Id.* (citations omitted). The Court of Appeals then held that the trial court's application of strict liability was proper. *Id.* Later in the opinion, the Court of Appeals further explained:

Because of the nature of the activity which Water Works engages in, it has been deemed strictly liable for damage that may result. Application of this theory does not make Water Works a general insurer. . . . Rather, Water Works is strictly liable to those parties who suffer a loss due to its leaking water mains since Water Works is in the better position to weigh the risk of either preventing against such leaks or of waiting until such leaks occur. . . . Water Works accepted the advantages of lower maintenance costs and now it must accept liability for the risk that it took. Consequently, defendant is a **tortfeasor since it is liable in tort under the doctrine of strict liability.**

*Id.* at 834 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). Thus, even after the enactment of the IMTCA, the doctrine of strict liability was still recognized as a viable theory of recovery against Iowa municipalities for damages caused by broken underground water mains. *Id.*

On appeal, CBWW argues that district court erred in not striking the Suttons’ strict liability claim because the definition of tort under the IMTCA is limited and does not give a remedy for strict liability. CBWW also argues that including strict liability as a tort under the IMTCA is inconsistent with subsequent amendments to the IMTCA’s immunity provisions and that *Lubin* and *Iowa Power* have been inherently overruled or abrogated. However, CBWW’s arguments are not supported by the plain language of the IMTCA, nor have *Lubin* or *Iowa Power* been inherently abrogated or overruled by subsequent amendments to the IMTCA or the case law interpreting the same.

**D. Strict liability falls within definition of “tort” under the plain language of the IMTCA.**

In denying CBWW’s motion to dismiss, the district court did not specifically discuss the definition of tort under the IMTCA. However, on appeal CBWW argues that strict liability is not authorized under the IMTCA because the terms “strict liability” and “liability without fault” are not specifically listed in the definition of tort under Section 670.1(4). (CBWW Brief, p. 21). CBWW then resorts to certain canons of statutory construction

and claims that by not including the terms “strict liability” or “liability without fault” within the definition of tort, the legislature must have intended to exclude strict liability as a theory of recovery under the IMTCA. (CBWW Brief, pp. 21-26). CBWW’s arguments are without merit based on the plain language of the IMTCA.

“In construing statutes, the court searches for the legislative intent as shown by what the legislature said, rather than what it should or might have said.” Iowa. R. App. P. 6.904(3)(m). “We are required to use the plain language of the statute when construing statutes.” *Warren Props. v. Stewart*, 864 N.W.2d 307 (Iowa 2015) (citation omitted). “When interpreting a statute, we look first to the statute’s plain meaning.” *Cox v. Iowa Dep’t of Human Servs.*, 920 N.W.2d 545, 553 (Iowa 2018) (citation omitted). “When the text of a statute is plain and its meaning is clear, the court should not search for meaning beyond the express terms of the statute.” *Cox*, 920 N.W.2d at 553 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); *see also Commerce Bank v. McGowen*, 956 N.W.2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2021) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted) (“If the text of a statute is plain and its meaning is clear, we will not search for a meaning beyond the express terms of the statute or resort to rules of construction.”). “If unambiguous, we will the apply the statute as written.” *Cox*, 920 N.W.2d at 553 (citation omitted). “If the language of the

statute is ambiguous or vague, we may resort to other tools of statutory interpretation.” *Commerce Bank*, 956 N.W.2d at 133 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The IMTCA states that “[e]xcept as otherwise provided by this chapter, every municipality is subject to liability for its torts.” Iowa Code § 670.2(1).

The IMTCA then specifically defines torts as follows:

“*Tort*” means **every civil wrong** which results in wrongful death or injury to person or injury to property or injury to personal property or property rights **and includes but is not restricted to** actions based on negligence; error or omission; nuisance; breach of duty, whether statutory or other duty or denial or **impairment of any right** under any constitutional provision, statute or **rule of law**.

*Id.* § 670.1(4) (italics in original) (emphasis added).

The definition of tort under the IMTCA is not vague or ambiguous, nor does CBWW argue the same on appeal. Rather, the Supreme Court has repeatedly held that Section 670.2 “imposes liability for *all* torts except those contained in [Section 670.4].” *Jahnke v. City of Des Moines*, 191 N.W.2d 780, 782-83 (Iowa 1971) (emphasis in original). As discussed above, the rule of law in Iowa is that regardless of whether it is called nuisance, trespass, negligence per se, liability without fault, or ultrahazardous activity, Iowa municipalities have been deemed tortfeasors and strictly liable in tort for damage to property caused by water mains that are placed underground



beyond normal inspection and maintenance until they break. *See Lubin*, 131 N.W.2d at 766; *Iowa Power*, 281 N.W.2d at 831. Thus, contrary to CBWW’s argument, strict liability falls within the impairment of any right under any rule of law category contained in Section 670.1(4). *See Iowa Code* § 670.1(4).

Moreover, even if strict liability (or liability without fault) does not fall within one of the enumerated categories listed in Section 670.1(4), CBWW’s suggested interpretation ignores the “includes but is not restricted to” language in Section 670.1(4). And under CBWW’s suggested interpretation, the phrase “includes but is not restricted to” contained in Section 670.1(4) would be rendered superfluous.

“Normally, we do not interpret statutes so they contain surplusage.” *Thomas v. Gavin*, 838 N.W.2d 518, 524 (Iowa 2013) (citation omitted); *see also Iowa Auto Dealers Ass’n v. Iowa Dep’t of Revenue*, 301 N.W.2d 760, 765 (Iowa 1981) (citation omitted) (stating that “a statute should not be construed so as to make any part of it superfluous unless no other construction is reasonably possible”). Instead, “[w]e seek an interpretation that does not render portions of [a statute] redundant or irrelevant.” *State v. Keutla*, 798 N.W.2d 731, 734 (Iowa 2011) (citation omitted); *see also Iowa Code* § 4.4(2) (“In enacting a statute, it is presumed that . . . [t]he entire statute is intended to be effective.”).

In ignoring the plain language of Section 670.1(4) and arguing certain canons of construction, CBWW claims that Iowa appellate courts have not addressed the “includes but is not restricted to” language and goes on to discuss a number of out-of-state cases. However, the Supreme Court interpreted very similar language in *Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utilities Board*, 847 N.W.2d 199 (Iowa 2014). Therefore, the non-binding cases CBWW relies upon in advancing its interpretation of the IMTCA are not applicable to the present case.

In *Hawkeye*, one of the issues the Supreme Court considered was whether an independent transmission company, ITC Midwest, was a public utility within the meaning of Iowa Code § 476.27 (the railroad crossing statute). *Hawkeye Land Co. v. Iowa Utils. Bd.*, 847 N.W.2d 199, 214 (Iowa 2014). After quoting the applicable statute and noting the rule of statutory construction that the expression of one thing implies the exclusion of others not mentioned (similar to CBWW), the Supreme Court explained as follows:

The legislature included a list of entities that are considered public utilities for the purpose of section 476.27. Notably, the legislature did not state a public utility “includes *but is not limited to*” the entities explicitly listed in section 476.27(1)(e). Yet, in a preceding section, “direct expenses” are defined with a list of examples introduced with the phrase “includes, *but is not limited to*, any or all of the following.” . . . The use of such a phrase in one definition but not the other indicates the legislature was selective in choosing which list is a closed set.

*Hawkeye*, 847 N.W.2d at 215 (emphasis in original) (citations and footnotes omitted). Based on the foregoing, the Supreme Court concluded that “the legislature, by omitting the phrase ‘but not limited to’ in section 476.27(1)(e), intended to limit the entities considered public utilities to those expressly mentioned.” *Id.*

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